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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 18-24594-C1V-AL TONAGA/Goodman
ELGINHILLIARD, SR.,

Plaintiff,
V.

CITY OF HIALEAH, et al,

Defendans.

ORDER

THIS CAUSE cane before the Court on Defendatialeah Housing Authority’$1otion
for Summary Judgment [ECF N85], filed November 30, 2019 Plaintiff, Elgin Hilliard, Sr,
filed aRespons¢ECF No0.89], to which Defendant filed a Reply [EQ¥0. 102. The Court has
carefully considered th®econdAmended Complaint'SAC”) [ECF No.68], the parties’ written
submissiong,the record, and applicable lawor the following reasons, tidotion is granted in
part and denied in part.

l. BACKGROUND
This action arisedrom Plaintiff’'s detention andhe subsequentienial of his Section 8

voucher application(SeegenerallySAC). Plaintiff is a resident of MiamiDade County. See id.

! The parties’ factual submissions include: Defendant's Statement da$pumed Facts (“Def.’s Facts”),
submitted as part of its MotiosgeMot. 1-5); Plaintiff's Response to Defendant’s Statement of Material
Facts and Plaintiff's Affirmative Statement bfaterial Facts (“Pl.’s Facts”) [ECRo. 90]; Defendant’s
Response to Plaintiff's Affirmative Statement of Material Facts (“Def.’'s Reéplsts”) [ECHNo. 100];
Defendant’s Appendix of Exhibits and attached exhibits (“Mot. Exs.”)HENO. 86], filed separalgin
support of its Motion; and Plaintiff's compilation of exhibits (“Resp. Exs.QENo. 91], filed separately

in support of his Response.
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16). The Hialeah Housing Authority (“Defendant” or “HHA®§ apublic agency in the City of
Hialeah. Gedd. I 7).

Plaintiff suffered an accident in 2015, leaving himable to workand requiring the use of
awalkingcane (SeeSAC 113-14. In June 2014, Plaintiff applied for a Section 8 voucher and
was placed on the waiting listS€eDef.’s Facts L

On April 18, 2016Defendantvrote to Plaintiff scheduling amppointment for his Section
8 applicationfor April 25, 2016 and asking him to bring, among other things, documentation
substantiating his income and expenseSeeMot. Exs, Ex. B, Apr. 18, 2016 Comspondence
[ECF No. 862]; Def.’s Facts T 2). At thappointment, Plaintiff’'s caseworker, Margarita De La
Cruz,requesteadditional documentation SéeDef.’s Facts 1-23).

On May 17, 2016, Plaintiff returned to thi#1A office with the additional documentation.
(Def.’s Facts B). De La Cruzreviewedthe documentation with th&ssistant Section 8 Director
Yvette Garcia (See id{[f 5, 18). After review,De La Cruz told Plaintiff he needed to supplement
the documentation further to clarify how he was meeting his expenSes. id.] 5). Plantiff
became upset and accused De La Cruz and the receptionist, Ledya Halphen, oindisani.
(See idf 6).

Defendanticknowleges“the exact nature of the exchange between Plaintiff andit?e
employees is disputed[.]'Dgf.’s Factd] 7 (alteration addeql) De La Cruz and Halphen reported
to Garcia that Plaintiff was acting belligerent and threateniBgeid.; Mot. Exs, Ex. E, Garcia
Dep.[ECF No. 865] 28:16-19). Defendantassertdlaintiff made threatening statements to De
La Cruz and Halphe(seeDef.’'s Reply Facts I 30while Plaintiff claimshe did not(seePl.’s
Factsy 7). Plaintiff admits he raised his camgile speaking to therbut deniegaising it inthe

manneDe La Cruz described(SeePl.’s Facts ).
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The HHA employees calle®fficer Rene Gutierrez, a retired police officer employed by
Defendantwho arrived in the lobby shortly thereafte(SeeDef.’s Facts ). Officer Gutierrez
asked Plaintiff to step outside to speak with hingegid.). Once outside, Plaintiff, who wa
holding his cane, began asking Officer Gutierrez what he wanted and why he had asked him t
come outsidé. (Sedd. ] 11). Plaintiff then put his cane down and assumed what Officer Gutierrez
believed to be a combative, “squaring” standd.  13). Officer Gutierrez reached for his taser
at one point during the encounter but never pulled it out from its holSegd({ 15). Plaintiff
was arrested and charged with disorderly conduct and assault of a law enfod@ioesr{seeid.

1 14), but hecharges were droppese€Pl.’s Factsf 36).

On May 24, 2016Defendantvroteto Plaintiffadvisinghis Section 8 applicatiomad been
denied due to “threatening and abusive behavior toward HHA personmétt. Exs, Ex. G,
Denial Letter[ECF No. 867]). Garcia made thdecision to deny Plaintiff’'s application(See
Def.’s Facts 1 18)The parties dispute the reason for the deridllaintiff’s application. $eed.

1 22; Pl.’s Facts 11 22, 26-27; Def.’s Reply Facts 1 36-27

Plaintiff asserts “there was no other reason his application was denied hahehnis
statements to HHA employees.” (Pl.’s Facts | 22). To support this asdelioniff cites De La
Cruz’s deposition testimony, in which ss@ted “[W]henl completed the file that | submitted to
review, | didn't see anything negative to interfere or deny his cas&sp(Exs, Ex. E, De La
Cruz Dep. 83:11-14eealsoPl.’s Facts T 2R

Defendanurges a “holistic reading of the surrounding testimbnpef.’s Reply Facts

26). De La Cruz testifiethat for his application to be approveRlaintiff would have been

2 Although Defendantstates it is not a material fact for purposes of summary judgseeéf.’s Reply
Facts 185), the parties dispute whether Plaintiff raised his cane towarce©@iutierrez or threatened him
in any mannergeePl.’s Facts | 35; Def.’s Reply Facts | 35).

3
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required to report any extra incomeSegMot. Exs, Ex. D,De La Cruz Dep[ECF No. 864]
83:8-2584:1-2). De La Cruzlso testified Plaintiff never provided the additional documentation
she had requesteadbout his income, but his application would have been approved if he had done
so and the incident between Plaintiff and Ht¢A employees had not occurredSegid. 101:6—
17). Defendantsserts De La Crigtestimony show&Plaintiff’'s case was trending towards being
closed due to misrepresentation [of his income] prior to his alleged threatenind\arfiployees
and subsequent arrest.” (Def.’s Reply Facts { 26 (alteration added)).

The denialetter also informed Plaintiff afhe right to request an informal reviewf the
decision to denyhis Section 8application (SeeDef.’s Facts  19). On August 11, 2016, an
informal hearing was heldSée idf 20). On August 17, 2016, the hearafficer overturned the
decision todenyPlaintiff's application. §eeMot. Exs, Ex. H,Notice of DecisiorfECF No.86-

8] 1).2 Plaintiff's application was not reinstateseePl.’s Facts | 28), nor did Plaintiff undertake
any efforts to reinstatihe applicatior{seeDef.’s ReplyFacts { 28).
On April 15, 2019, Plaintiff filed his Second Amended Complaint, asserting five laim

against Defendarft Count | styled as a claim brought under 42 U.Ss€ction1983, alleges

3 Plaintiff asserts he felt he could no longer complain of discriminatiddefgndantfter the denial of his
application was overturneddePl.’s Facts  24), citing his verificatioseeResp. Exs., Ex. A,-®). The
verification does not contain facts supporting Plaintiff's assert{BeeResp. Exs., Ex. A,-¥). Page3 is
the exhibit'scover page; page 4 is the signature page of the verification and contains threapparag
numbered 34, 35, and 36, as well as part of a preceding paragraph that appearnsderheveoff; page 5
contains the details of Plaintiffessignature; and page 6 is a screenshot of the HHA wel{Sigz id).

4 Plaintiff filed his original Complaint [ECF No. 1] on November 1, 2018, ag#iesCity of Hialeah, the
Hialeah Police Department, Sergio Velazquez, the HHA, Maideefeti, and Rene Gutierrez. Plaintiff
then voluntarily dismissed the Hialeah Police Departme®¢eNotice of Voluntary Dismissal [ECF No.
32]). Following the remaining Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss [ECF No. 41], Plaintiff velrikyt
dismissed Sergio Velazquand Maida GutierrezséeNotice of Voluntary Dismissal [ECF No. 504nd
filed his First Amended Complaint [ECF No. 49]. Upon the City of Hialeah'sesyuent Motion to
Dismiss [ECF No. 56], Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed the City iilaleah éee Notice of Voluntary
Dismissal [ECF No. 67]) and filed the Second Amended Complaint.



CASE NO.18-24594CIV-ALTONAGA/Goodman

Officer Gutierrez‘committed the tort of false arrest” agaifdtintiff, andDefendantshould be
held vicariously liable for Officer Gutierrez&ctions. (SAC {1 75-82). Count Il alleges Officer
Gutierrez used excessive force against Plaintiff in violation of the Fourtmdment (Seeid.
11 8891). Count V allege®efendantretaliated against Plaintiff in violation of the Fiesd
FourteenthPAmendmets. (Seeid. 1 96-99). Count Vlalleges DefendardeprivedPlaintiff of
due process under the Fourteenth Amendrardtviolated the Housing Act of 1937, 42 U.S.C.
sections 143%t seq. and he Act'simplementing regulations (Seeid. 11100-06). Count VII
alleges Defendantetaliated against Plaintiff in violation of the Fair Housing &&HA”), 42
U.S.C. sectios 3601et seq (Seeid. 11 10#12). Defendantmoves for summary judgment on
thesecounts. $ee generalliot.).
. LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment may only be rendered if the pleadings, discovery and disclosure
materials on file, and any affidavits show there is no genuine issue as totenwalnfect and the
movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of |&eeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(a), (c). An issue of fact
is “material” if it might affect the outcome of the case under the governing3aeAnderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Ing 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). It is “genuine” if the evidence could lead a
reasonable jyrto find for the noamoving party. See id. see also Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v.

Zenith Radio Corp475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986).he Court draws all reasonable inferences in favor

Officer Gutierrez was dismissed without prejudice on February 1, 2@E20(der [ECF M. 29]). After
Gutierrez had been dismissed from the action, in the Second Amendgth®@orlaintiff addedOfficer
Gutierrez as defendant and assedseveral claims against himSdeReturn of NorService [ECF No.
73]; Apr. 25, 2019 Order [ECF No. 74]Because Plaintifhasnever served Officer Gutierrez nor sought
leave to add him as a party to the chsgond the deadlineontainedn the Scheduling Order [ECF No.
46], he will once again be dismissed without prejudice.

5 In his Response, Plaintiff purports to “voluntarily dismiss[ ]” Count Ill. §jRe4). Defendantthusis
entitled to summary judgment on this claim.
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of the party opposing summary judgme8eeChapman v. Al Transp229 F.3d 1012, 1023 (11th
Cir. 2000).

If the nonmoving party bears the burden of proof at trial, the moving party may obtain
summary judgment simply by: (1) establishing the nonexistence of a gerauia@fanaterial fact
as to any essential element of @aaimoving party’s claim, and (2) showing the Court there is
insufficient evidence to support the Aoroving party’s case See Blackhawk Yachting, LLC v.
Tognum Am., In¢ No. 1214209-Gv, 2015 WL 11176299, at *2 (S.D. Fla. June 30, 2015)
(citations omitted). “Once the moving party discharges its initial burden,-enogimg party who
bears the burden of proof must cite to . . . materials in the record or shdhetinaaterials cited
donot establish the absence or presence of a genuine disfautéeiting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)
alteration added; internal quotation marks omitted).

“Summary judgment may be inappropriate even where the parties agree oridtiadss
[] but disagreeabout the inferences that should be drawn from these fa@thélan v. Royal
Caribbean Cruises LtgdNo. 1:12cv-22481, 2013 WL 5583970, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 14, 2013)
(alteration addedcitation omitted). Where “reasonable minds might differ on theférences
arising from undisputed facts, then the Court should deny summary judgment” and procgakd to tr
Id. (citations omitted).

1. DISCUSSION
A. Count |I: False Arrest and/or Imprisonment

Defendantrgues it is entitled to summary judgmentQuount | because it cannot be held
vicariously liable undewsection 1983 as a matter of lawm(SeeMot. 7-8). Plaintiff admits
Defendant'may not be held vicariously liable for constitutional violations brought pursuant to

[section] 1988]” (Resp.3(alterations addell) Neverthelesshe state®efendanshouldbe held
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vicariously liable for Officer Gutierrez’s actions under Florida.la@®eeid. 3—4). In responsea
this creative argumenDefendantpoints outCount I“is clearly brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
[section] 1983, not Florida law,” anithe Court should reject Plaintiff's “attemgtto inject an
additional claim againgDefendant]where one does not exist.” (Reply 2 (alterations added)

Throughout the litigation, Plaintiff has taken the position Coustatesa section 1983
claim, not a tort claim under Florida law. In thecBnd Amended Complaint, Cournis styled as
asection 1983 clainfseeSAC 10)° even though the substanakthe claim mentionsthe tort of
false arrestTid. { 81).

Plaintiff offers no rebuttal tDefendant’sassertion Count | is brought under section 1983.
(SeeResp. 3).Indeed Plaintiff referenceshe Fourth Amendment’s probable cause requirement
and argues summary judgment should be denied beBemisadant'does not raise the issue of
probable cause and has not disputed any of the facts surrounding Plaintiff's detentidicdsy Of
Gutierrez.” (d. 3-4). Further evidencing what his claim is in Count I, in his Statement of the
Case in the parties’ Joint Pretrial Stipulation [ECF No. B&intiff writes, “This is an action for
violations of 42 U.S.C|[sections]1983, 1988, the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments to
the United States Constitution, the Federal Fair Housing Act, and a Ftatddaw claim of false
arrest.” (d. atl (alteration added. The Fourth Amendment claim can only refer to Count I, and
the “Florida state law claim of fe& arrest” appears to refer to Count Il (whichgainsthe never
servedOfficer Gutierrez and is not addressed in the Motion).

If by his statement in the Respom3aintiff intends to convert Count | into a tort claim, he
is prohibited from doing so‘A plaintiff may not amendhis] complaint through argument in a

brief opposing summary judgment” and must instead “amend the complaint in aceondtinc

6 Count |is titled “False Arrest and/or Imprisonmert42 U.S.C.[section] 1983 Claim.” (SAC 10
(alteration added;apitalization omitted)).
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[FederalRule of Civil Procedurg 15(a).” Gilmour v. Gates, McDonald & C0382 F.3d 1312,
1315 (11th Cir. 2004(alteratiors added citation omitted; see alsd?orto Venezia Condo. Ass’n,
Inc. v. WB Fort Lauderdale, LLONo. 1160665€Civ, 2012 WL 12840923, at *8.2 (S.D. Fla.
Oct. 22, 2012jstating the plaintiff's attempt to character&zelaim as a different state tort claim
in his response to the defendant’'s motion for summary judgment was improper anchgléalini
allow the plaintiff to amendhis complaint at late stage dffie litigation). As if the foregoing
observations were not enough reason to reject Plairditesnpt at an amendmeit April 2019
the Court ordered Plaintiff may not make further amendments following the Second Aimende
Complaint. SeeApr. 12, 2019 Order [ECF No. 66] 1).

Defendants correct it is not subject to vicarious liability for a claim brought under section
1983 (SeeMot. 7-8). Plaintiff may not import state tort lawigcarious liability doctrine to the
section 1983 contexiSeeMonell v. Dep’t of Social Servs. of CdfNew York436 U.S. 658, 691
(1978) (“[A] municipality cannot be held liable undeection] 1983 on arespondeat superior
theory” (alterations added)).

Plaintiff nevertheless raises other arguments summary judgment shoulddzeate@iount
l. Plaintiff statesdDefendant'does not raise the issue of probable cause and has not disputed any
of the facts surrounding Plaintiff's detention by Officer Gutierrez.eqfR 3—4).Defendantdoes
not address the meritsthiealleged constitutional violain in its Motion or Reply. See generally
Mot.; Reply). Plaintiff also attempts to shd»efendanthad an unofficial policy of detaining
disruptive applicants, as he is required to do to prevail under sectior{sE@83sp. 89), which
Defendantefutes §eeMot. 15-17; Reply 911). The Court discussthe parties’ section 1983

arguments in further detail below.
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B. Countsl, V, and VI: Municipal Liability under Section 1983

Counts I, V, and VI raise section 1983 claimBefendantargues summary judgment is
appropriate on two grounds. Fir@efendant stateso substantive violations occurred to
Counts V and VJlasPlaintiff cannot point to evidence showibgfendantetaliated against i
based on his exercise ée speech or th&defendandenied his Section 8 application based on
insufficient evidence.(SeeMot. 9-13). SecondDefendant arguesven if there is a question of
fact as to whether Plaintiff's constitutional rights were violatedfendantis still entitled to
summary judgment because Plaintiff failsstlowa custom or practice or a final policymaker’s
decision was the moving force behiRtintiff's allegedinjuries (Seed. at15-17).

Plaintiff fails to submit any evidence asbefendant’s section 1983 liability with respect
to Count VI. Gee generalljResp.). Plaintiff does not attempt to show Defendant had a practice
of rejecting housing voucher applications without due process or in violation of the Housing Ac
or its implenenting regulations. Nor does Plaintiff make any other argument Defendant should be
liable in Count VI under section 1983. Plaintiff fails to show a genuine dispute of matetjal fac
and scsummary judgmeris appropriate on this claim without furtheralission. Moving on, as
to Counts | and Wlaintiff doesinsist Defendant*has a widespread pattern and practice of
requesting its resident law enforcement officer to detain applicants addntssits employees
deem to be disruptive” and of “denying the applicationgpylicants for issues related to free
speecli (Resp.9).

Section 1983 provides a cause of action against state actors who, under color aivstate |
deprive a person of rights secured by federal I8ee42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983. “The Supreme Court has
placed strict limitations on municipal liability under [sectid89B3.” Grech v. Clayton CtyGa,

335 F.3d 1326, 1329 (11th Cir. 2003) (alteration addedl¥. stated, anunicipal entity like
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Defendantannot be held liable under section 1983 based on the doctriespohdeat superior
SeeMonell, 436 U.S.at691; Grech 335 F.3dat 1329 Instead,municipal entitiesmay be held
liable only if the constitutional violations result from (1) “an official gaowaent policy”; (2) ‘a
custom or practice so pervasive and vgelitled that it assumes therde of law; or (3) “the
actions of an official fairly deemed to represent government polidgnno v. Sch. Bd. of Volusia
Cty., Fla, 218 F.3d 1267, 1276 (11th Cir. 2000) (citations omitted). This requir€wast
intended to distinguish acts of thaunicipalityfrom acts ofemployee®f the municipality, and
thereby make clear that municipal liability is limited to action for which the municipabttisglly
responsible.”Pembaur v. City of Cincinnat#75 U.S. 469, 479 (1986mphasis in original)
1. Unconstitutional Policy or Custom

In order to establish enunicipal entity’spolicy, a plaintiff must identify either (1) an
officially promulgated municipal policy or (2) an unofficial custom or praabicéhe municipal
entity shown through the repeated acts of a final policymaker for the ety Grech335 F.3d
at 1329 (citingVionell, 436 U.S. at 6901, 694 other citations omitted “Because a [municipal
entity] rarely will have anofficially-adopted policy of permitting a particular constitutional
violation, most plaintiff§ must demonstrate the lattetd. at 1330(alteration added; citations
omitted) “Under either avenue, a plaintiff. . must identify those officials who sgewith final
policymaking authority forthat local governmental entityoncerning the act alleged to have
caused the particular constitutional violation in issud.”(alteration addedcitations omittey

To prove a municipal entity maintained an unconstitutional policy or custom, a plaintiff
may submit circumstantial evidence of an ongoing pattern of constitutional viol#tiange
government did nothing to remedfaee Kerr v. City of West Palm Bea8Mi5 F.2d 1546, 1556

(11th Cir. 1989) (citingCity of Canton v. Harris489 U.S. 378 (1989))The custom musbeso

10
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widespread it hathe effect of a written policySee City of St. Louis v. Praprotnd85 U.S. 112,

127 (1988) (noting the challenged custom or practice must be “widespread” and “so pérmane
and well settled as to constitute a custom or usage with the force of law” (inteoteti@n marks

and citation omitted))Dennq 218 F.3d at 1277 (noting the custom or practice must be so
widespreadhe city was constructively aware of it or had actual knowledge of the wromgdoin
(citation omitted)).

According toPlaintiff, Defendant’has a widespread pattern and practice of requesting its
resident law enforcement officer to detain applicants and residents itsyespldeem to be
disruptive” and of “denying the applicationsagfplicants for issues related to free speefResp.

9). Plaintiff asserts “[t]he issue of whether a custom or practice is wiglegd|ig a question of fact
and in this matter that fact is disputedId. (alteration added)) Defendantexplainsthe record
evidence Plaintiff cites fdnis argument fails to create a genuine issue of fact. (Refil§)9 The
Court agrees with Defendant

Plaintiff's evidence falls well short of showindgefendanthad an unofficial policy or
policies that were the moving force behind the alleged constitutional violations. agiain
matter, Plaintiff fails to identify an official with final policymaking authoriihose “repeated
acts” demonstrate the existence of the alleged pali€ies Grech335 F.3d at 1329 (citingonell,

436 U.S. at 6901, 694 other citationsomitted. Instead, Plaintiff focuses on the purported

pattern of violations in an attempt to shitwas“so permanent and well settled as to constitute a
custom or usage with the force of lAwPraprotnik 485 U.S. at 127 (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted)

For bothalleged practicesPlaintiff offers a compilation of spreadsheets of terminated

housingvoucher applicants anal table ofcomplaints submitted to the Florida Commission on

11



CASE NO.18-24594CIV-ALTONAGA/Goodman

Human Relationg“FCHR”) (seeResp. ExsEx. D, 127-3000 see alsdPl.’s Facts {f 3432).
Plaintiff also cites Garcia’s testimony that officers are summoned aboot tivee times per year
to “handle ampplicant or a residentvho “becomes belligerent or hostile or threatenitogshow
Defendantada customof detainingdisruptiveapplicants. Resp. Exs., Ex.,F5arcia Dep. 35:18
24; see alsdPl.’s Facts T 31 Contrary to Plaintiff'scontention, lis evidence fails to create a
genuine dispute of fact as to whetlidfendanttoleratel a widespread practice or custom that
causeckither ofthealleged constitutional violatiorfs

Garcia’s testimony is insufficient siemonstrate Defendahad a custom of requesting its
officers to detain disruptive applicants in violation of the Fourth Amendmafien asked how
often Officer Gutierrezvassummoned to handle a disruptive applicant, Garcia responded, “Not
very often. It could be two, three times in a yealRegp.Exs., Ex.F, Garcia Dep. 35:1822).
This vague testimony is surely not enough to create a genuine dispute of fact.

Plaintiff mustto point to specific instanceshere applicants were detained by HHA
officers under similar factual circumstances and explain how any prior deteblf HHA officers
violated the Fourth AmendmentPlaintiff fails to do so. SeeGold v. City of Miam 151 F.3d
1346, 1351 (11th Cir. 1998)yequiring the plaintiff to preserdgvidence of prior incidentsf
constitutional violations that occurred in th@me manner that caused plaintiff's injurgjioury
v. MiamiDade Cty. Sch. BdNo. 16-20680€iv, 2018 WL 1472473, at *7 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 26,
2018) granting summary judgment whete plaintiff failed to demonstratevidespread practice
of School Board police improperly relying treBaker Act in violation of the Fourth Amendment

to detain individuals because she did not show past detentions were uiftativiglGold, 151

" Plaintiff relies entirely orGriffin v. City of OpalLocka 261 F.3d 1295 (11th Cir. 20Q19r this argument
(SeeResp. 89). But Plaintiff provides no meaningful analysis@fiffin andfails to explain how this case
supports higonclusoryassertions

12



CASE NO.18-24594CIV-ALTONAGA/Goodman

F.3d at 135]) see alsoMercado v. City of Orlando407 F.3d 1152, 1162 (11th Cir. 2005
(affirming district court wher¢he plaintiff could not showhe other incidentappearing in “a list
of all cases involving excessive fordavolved“factual situations substantially similar to the case
at hand”)®

Similarly, Exhibit D— the sole piece of evidence on which Plaintiff reliess insufficient
to demonstrat®efendant'salleged custom of denying applicatiansretaliation against speech.
Defendantaptly describeg&xhibit D as“several thousand pages of irrelevant documents which
abjectly fail to provide support whatsoever Rlaintiff's assertion of a widespread pattern and
practice” (Reply 10). DefendargtatesExhibit D cannot Suffice to create an issue of fact on this
guestiori becauséPlaintiff's reference to this exhibitvithout any specific citations or explanation
offer[s] no support for Plaintiff's conclusory allegatiofi[.{Id. (alterations addedl)

Defendantis largely correct. In relevant part, Exhibit D appears to contain two
spreadsheets of terminated housing vouepelicants’ (SeeResp.Exs, Ex. D,127-3000).The
last columns on pages 1562 to 2996 and on pages 2999 t@fB3PQG0ntiff’'s submission reflect

the reasosmfor each application denid? (Seeid. at 1562—29962999-3000). But‘the number

8 pPlaintiff cites the compilation of spreadsheets to show a practiceaifidet applicants. SeePl.’s Facts

1 31). Exhibit D does not appearradlect such a practiceand Plaintiff provides no explanation as to its
relevance. $eeResp. 89; Pl.’s Facts 11 3B2). According to the Appenddf Plaintiff's submissior{see
Resp. Exs. 2)Exhibit D showsterminated voucher applicants and complaints submitted to the FCHR but
mentionsnothing about applicants who were detained, let alone applicants whoetaireed in violation

of the Fourth Amendment.

9 Exhibit D contains a table of four complaistsbmittedto the FCHR— another facially unrelated piece

of evidence. $eeResp. Exs., Ex. D, 3001). Plaintiff does not explain how the table of FCHR comaplaint
is relevant to Defendant’s alleged custom of denying housing voucher appkdatretaliatiorior speech.
Three of the four complaints appear to be about discrimination, not Firstdhnest retaliation. Seed.).

The last complaint idescribedas “INQUIRY No. 557489- 2018,” and there is no indication it is related
to First Amendment retaliation eitherSee id).

101t is alsodifficult to glean therelevant information from the spreadsheets because of the way they are
structured. Neither spreadsheet is titleBegResp. Exs., Ex. D, 122996;see alsdd. at 29973000).
Pages 127 to 1561 contai® columns, while pages 1562 to 2996 contain three more columns that

13
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of [denials]bears no relation to their validity.Brooks v. Schejl813 F.2d 1191, 1193 (&1Cir.
1987) (alteration addedjreversing jury verdict fothe plaintiff on a Monell claim whee the
plaintiff produced no evidence that past complaints of police misconduct hayl merit

Without explanatiosof the context behind each application denial or specific references
to any applicatiors that were denied for retaliatory reaspmdaintiff cannot demonstratea
widespread practicef denying applications in retaliation against speeSheGold, 151 F.3dat
1351 (findingthe plaintiff could not showthe City hada custom of effecting false arrests for
disorderly conduct becausalthough he submitted evidence of over 8,000 disorderly conduct
arrests, he did not provide theasons fothe dismissals of past disorderly conduct arrests or any
pattern of complaints fdalse arrests under disorderly conduct statétedierson v. Mascar&847
F. Supp. 3d 1163, 1171%.D. Fla.2018 (granting summary judgment on the plaintiff4onell
claims because the plaintiff's evidence of at least 566ofif@rce incidentreports “[did] not
establish that there was misconduct that went uncorrected” (alteratior))addedalsdHuaman
v. Sirois No. 13cv-484, 2015 WL 5797005, at *12 (D. Conn. Sept. 30, 2(fibyling “vague and
ambiguous” spreadsheet exhibits “lack[ed] specificity and detail required” fahe plaintiff to
defeat summary judgmeah Monell claim (alteration added))

In sum,Plaintiff's evidencdails tocreate a triable issue of faatiowingDefendantad an
unofficial policy of detaining disruptive applicants in violation of the Fourth Amendroeioff
denyinghousing voucher applications in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments.

2. Decision Maddy Final Policymaker

Underappropriate circumstancémunicipal liability may be imposed for a single decision

presumably belong to the same spreadsh&steid. at 1272996). Similarly, pages 2997 to 2998 contain
eight columns, and pages 2999 to 3000 contain the last two columns of that spred8siedetiat 2997—
3000). Because not all the columns are printed on the same pagadtear which rows correspond to
each other.

14
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by municipal policymakers.’Pembauy 475 U.Sat480. Yet, as th®embaurCourt emphasized,
“[m]unicipal liability attaches only where the decisionmaker possessesiithrity to establish
municipal policy with respect to the action orderedd’ at 481 (alteration added; footnote call
number omitted)seealso Matthews v. Columbia Cty294 F.3d 1294, 1297 (11th Cir. 2002)
(“[O]nly those municipal officers who havenfl policymaking authority may by their actions
subject the government to [section] 1983 liabilitiatteratiors added; internal quotation marks
and citations omittedl) Whether an official has final policymaking authority is a question of state
law, includinglaw expressedh valid local ordinances and regulatiorSee Praprotnik485 U.S.
at 124-25. “The fact that a particular officia- even a policymaking official has discretion in
the exercise of particular functions does not, without more, give rise to muihigiplsty on an
exercise of that discretionPembauy 475 U.S. at 48182 (citation omitted).

Plaintiff fails to demonstratihe decision of &nal pdicymaker caused either of the alleged
constitutional violationsPlaintiff does noevenaddress whether the decisions at issue were made
or ratified by final policymakergocusng solely on trying to show a dispute of fact as to whether
there was aunofficial policy shown througla widespread custom or practiesdiscussed above
(SeeResp.8-9.

Defendantcites Fusaro v. Hialeah Housing Authorjtyd3 F. Supp. 2d 1354 (S.D. Fla.
1999),for the propositiorthe boardof housing ommissionerss Defendant’sinal policymaker.
(SeeMot. 17). Plaintiff does not allege or point to any evidence showinpael “authorized,
adopted, endorsed or ratified” the decisions to detain Plaintiff and deny hisaséippli Fusarq
33 F. Supp. 2d. at 136%. Nor does Plaintiff allege or point to any evideriedicatingGarcia or

Officer Gutierrezs afinal policymake. (SeeResp. 8-%

11 Plaintiff named a member of tiheard ofcommissioners, Maida Gutierrez, as a defendant in his original
Complaint, but subsequently voluntarily dismissed her fitmercase (SeeNotice of Voluntary Dismissal)
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In sum, summary judgment is appropriate on Counts |, V, abgéddus®efendant cannot
be held liable under section 1983 where Plaihtffailed toraise an issue of fact by pointing to
some evidence thdhe challenged decisions were part of an unofficial policgaofstitutional
violationsor were made by final policymakers. As these issues are dispositive, thel@sunot
address Defendanttemaining arguments regarding @leeged constitutionatiolations.

C. Count VII: Fair Housing Act Retaliation

Defendantargues it is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's FHA retaliation claim
because Plaintiff cannetstablisha prima faciecase of retaliation and, regardleBgfendanthad
a legitimate, nowetaliatory reason for denying Plaintiff's Section 8 applicati®@eeMot. 13—
15).

To establish a retaliatioclaim under the FHA, “a plaintiff must assert that a defendant
coerced,ntimidated, threatened, or interfered with his exercise of rights grantier the FHA[.]”
Philippeaux v. Apartment Inv. & Mgmt. C&98 F. App’x 640, 644 (11th Cir. 201&)lteration
added citing 42 U.S.C. § 3617 arfdixon v. Hallmark Cos.627 F.3d 849, 858 (11 Cir. 2010)
other citation omitted A plaintiff must show: “1) [he] engaged in statutorily protected conduct;
2) the defendant took an adverse action against the plaintiff, and 3) a causal conné&igon ex
between the adverse action and the protected activiRgrez v. CambeyrdNo. 1521958-Gv,
2015 WL 9942641, at *6 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 1, 20(&)eration addedcitation omitted. If the
plaintiff succeeds in making@ima faciecase, the burden shifts to the defendant to offer a non
retaliatoryreason for the challenged actio8ee Bone v. Vill. Club, Inc223 F. Supp. 3d 1203,
1218 (M.D. Fla. 2016]citing Cleveland v. Home Shopping Network, Ji869 F.3d 1189, 1193
(11th Cir. 2004),

The patrties focus their arguments on whet{ierPlaintiff engaged in statutorily protected
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conduct (2) there was a causal connection between the adverse action and the protected activity
and (3)Defendannevertheless had a noetaliatoryreason for the adverse actithiDefendant’s
Motion does not address whether Plaintiff fufithe first element of thprima faciecase (See
generallyMot.). In his ResponseRlaintiff states‘[h]is complaints of racial and/or disability
discrimination were protected activity (Resp. 8 (alteration added)). To tHiefendantclaims
— for the first time in its Reply— Plaintiff’'s complaint of discrimination was natadein good
faith. (SeeReply 6-7).

Defendanmay not raise a new argument in its Replgt was available to it when it filed
its Motion. See Ali v. Margate Sch. of Beauty, Jido. 1260102Civ, 2011 WL 4591878, at *4
(S.D. Fla. Sept. 30, 201{notingit was improper for the defendant to raise for the first time in its
reply the argument regarding the “protected activity” element of a retaliation cl@amappell v.
Potter, No. 1:06-cv-2765 2007 WL 4200681, at *8.1 (N.D. Ga. Nov. 19, 2007(declining to
rely upon new grounds for summary judgment in the defendant’s reply based on an argument that
the plaintiff did not meet an element of his retaliation claim).

In any eventDefendants position fails to persuade:A plaintiff engages irstatutorily
protected activity when he or she protestsconduct which is actually lawful, so long as he or
she demonstrates a good faith, reasonable belief that the [conduct engaged iniimlasvful[.]”
Philippeaux 598 F. Appx at 644-45 (alterations in originglinternal quotations marks and citation

omitted quotingHarper v. Blockbuster Entm’t Corpl39 F.3d 1385, 1388 (11th Cir998). “A

12 plaintiff assertswithout citing legal authoritythat “[h]e was subjected to adverse actions, both the
original denial, and the failure to reinstate his application.” (Resp. 8afidteadded)) Defendanpoints
out“Plaintiff has provided no evidence that [the] HHA's adverse ded@sizere motivated byrmeintent to
retaliate against him or to harass him” (Reply 7 (alteration aditations omitte) but does not address
whether those decisions constitute “coercion, intimidation, threatsedieirgnce.”Bone 223 F. Supp. 3d

at 1218 (“With respect tthe second element, whether [the plaintiff] suffered an ‘adverse actien,’ t
relevant question is whether [the defendants’] conduct qualifieso@sion, intimidation, theds, or
interference.” (alterations added; citations omitted)).
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plaintiff’s belief that the conduct was unlawful must be objectively reasohalbde.(citation
omitted. The parties do not dispute Plaintiff accused De La Cruz of discrimination whesidshe
him he needed to supplement his income documentat®eeDef.’s Facts 11-56).

DefendaninsistsPlaintiff’'s accusatiorwas notmadein good fath for two reasonsthere
is no record evidence of the type of discrimination of which Plaintiff comg@thand Plaintiff
testified at his deposition he usint termbecausdie “fe[lt] like the stuff [he] went through . . .
[he] didn’t deserve to be going through it.” (Reply 7 (alterations addednahtgunotation marks
omitted; quotingMot. Exs, Ex. C, Hilliard Dep[ECF No. 863] 236:9-13)).But Defendant does
not refer to any circumstanceshowingPlaintiff's complaint of discriminatiorwas objectively
unreasonableWhile Defendant noteRlaintiff’'s accusation camenly “after he was told that his
financial documentation was insufficient” (Reply fhis fact does natecessarilyeveal bad faith
Plaintiff could have reasonably thoudh¢ La Cruz was offering pretextual reason for denying
his application. Defendantprovides noothersupport for its assertiothatthe vaguenessf the
charge odiscrimination or Plaintiff seasons for the cha@ghowthe accusatiowasobjectively
unreasonable and not in good faitbefendaris argument thaPlaintiff cannot meethis element
of hisprima faciecasethusfails.*®

Plaintiff also argues theres a causal connection between the incident with the HHA
employees anthe denial of his Section 8 applicatiand thaDefendanbffers nolegitimate, non
retaliatory reasan (SeeResp.8). He insists he was not threatening towil HHA employees
and a&serts his application would not have been denied bahifoincident (Seeid.). Plaintiff

points to De La Cruz’s testimony to show his application would not have been denied but for his

13 Defendantprovides no legal authority to explain why Plaintiff’'s accusation veasnadein good faith
other than citindhilippeauxfor the legal standarof what constitutes statutorily protected activif{see
Reply6-7).
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encounter with the HHA employeesSegeResp.8; Resp. Exs., Ex. E, De La Cruz Dep. 83:11-14
(“IW]hen | completed the file that | submitted to review, | didn’t see anything nedgatinterfere
or deny his casé(alteration addey.

Defendant disputes the reason for the denial of Plaintiff's Section 8 applic&mareply
7-9). Defendantontends Plaintiff mischaracterizes De La Cruz’s testimstayng it shows the
application was denied because BRintiff's failure to submit additional documentation
corroborating his income.SéeReply 8). Specifically, De La Cruz testified Plaintiff’'s application
would have been approved if he had provittediocumentation and thiecidentbetween Plaintiff
and the HHA employees had not occurre&egMot. Exs, Ex. D,De La Cruz Dep83:8-25
84:1-2; 101:6-2R

The partiedispute the inferences to be drawn from De La Cruz’'s testimamythey
disagree whethat can support the third element of Plaintifisma faciecase oDefendant’s
argument it had a neretaliatory reason for denying Plaintiff's applicatioBeeAnderson 477
U.S. at 255 (“[T]he drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts aydyuactions, not those of
ajudge . ...” (alterations added)). Summary judgnsaniproperon this claim.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it@GRDERED AND ADJUDGED that DefendantHialeah
Housing Authority’sMotion for Summary JudgmerfiECF No. 85] is GRANTED in part and
DENIED in part asfollows:

1. Defendanis entitled to summary judgment @ounts I, IIl, V, and VI

2. The case will proceed to triabainst Defendant Hialeah Housing Authority on Count

VII during the March 2, 2020 twweek trial period

3. Defendant, Rene Gutierrezid SM|1SSED without prejudice.
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DONE AND ORDERED in Miami, Florida, thisAth day ofFebruary, 2020.

&am . Q@Q«%

CECILIA M.ALTONAGA Y
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE

cC: counsel of record
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